
 
 

10 March 2022 at 7.00 pm 
 
Council Chamber, Argyle Road, Sevenoaks 

Published: 02.03.22 

 

 

 

 

Development Control Committee  
 

 

Membership: 
Chairman, Cllr. Williamson; Vice-Chairman, Cllr. Pett   
Cllrs. Ball, Barnett, Brown, Cheeseman, Perry Cole, Coleman, P. Darrington, 
Edwards-Winser, Hogarth, Hudson, Hunter, Layland, McGarvey, Osborne-Jackson, 
Purves, Raikes and Reay 
 

Agenda 
There are no fire drills planned. If the fire alarm is activated, which is a 
continuous siren with a flashing red light, please leave the building immediately, 
following the fire exit signs. 
 
 
Apologies for Absence 
 

Pages Contact 

1.   Minutes  (Pages 1 - 12)  

 To approve the minutes of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 27 January 2022, as a 
correct record. 
 

  

2.   Declarations of Interest or Predetermination    

 Including any interests not already registered 
 

  

3.   Declarations of Lobbying     
 

4.   Planning Applications - Chief Planning Officer's 
Report  

   
 

 4.1  21/01333/FUL - Edenbridge Working Mens 
Club, 67 High Street, Edenbridge KENT 
TN8 5AL 

(Pages 13 - 32)  Ashley Bidwell 
Tel: 01732 227000 

  Edenbridge Working Mens Club, 67 High 
Street, Edenbridge KENT TN8 5AL 
 

  

Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 
 

 5.1  Tree Preservation Order 6 of 2021 - Situated 
to the east of Church Road and the north of 
Newports Crockenhill. 

(Pages 33 - 36) Les Jones 
Tel: 01732 227000 



 
 

 EXEMPT INFORMATION  
 
At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items. During any 
such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public. 
 
 

    

 Any Member who wishes to request the Chairman to agree a pre-meeting site 
inspection is asked to email democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk or speak to a 
member of the Democratic Services Team on 01732 227000 by 5pm on Monday, 7 
March 2022.  
 
The Council's Constitution provides that a site inspection may be determined to 
be necessary if:  
 

i.  Particular site factors are significant in terms of weight attached to 
them relative to other factors and it would be difficult to assess 
those factors without a Site Inspection. 

 
ii. The characteristics of the site need to be viewed on the ground in 

order to assess the broader impact of the proposal. 
 
iii. Objectors to and/or supporters of a proposal raise matters in 

respect of site characteristics, the importance of which can only 
reasonably be established by means of a Site Inspection. 

 
iv. The scale of the proposal is such that a Site Inspection is essential 

to enable Members to be fully familiar with all site-related matters 
of fact. 

 
v. There are very significant policy or precedent issues and where 

site-specific factors need to be carefully assessed. 
 
When requesting a site inspection, the person making such a request must state 
under which of the above five criteria the inspection is requested and must also 
provide supporting justification. 

    
 
If you wish to obtain further factual information on any of the agenda items listed 
above, please contact the named officer prior to the day of the meeting. 
 
Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or  
have any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact 
Democratic Services on 01732 227000 or democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk. 
 

 

 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk


109 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 27 January 2022 commencing at 7.00 pm 
 
 
Present: Cllr. Williamson (Chairman) 

 
Cllr. Pett (Vice Chairman)  

  
 Cllrs. Ball, Barnett, Brown, Cheeseman, Perry Cole, P. Darrington, 

Edwards-Winser, Hogarth, Hudson, Hunter, Layland, McGarvey, 
Osborne-Jackson, Pett, Purves, Raikes and Reay 
 

 An apology for absence was received from Cllr. Coleman 
 

 Cllrs. Dr. Canet, Collins and Roy were also present. 
 

 Cllr Thornton was also present via a virtual media platform which does 
not constitute attendance as recognised by the Local Government Act 
1972. 

 
 
65.    Minutes  

 
Resolved: That the Minutes of the Development Control Committee held on 
6 January 2022, be approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record.  
 

66.    Declarations of Interest or Predetermination  
 

Cllr Layland declared for Minute 70 - 21/02825/FUL - Tonys Corner Shop, 18 Cedar 
Drive, Edenbridge KENT TN8 5JL and Minute 71 -  21/03526/FUL - Tonys Corner 
Shop, 18 Cedar Drive, Edenbridge KENT TN8 5JL, that he was the local ward 
Member but remained open minded.  
 
Cllr Raikes declared for Minute 68 21/03048/HOUSE - 1 Bottle Cottages, 
Bradbourne Vale Road, Sevenoaks KENT TN13 3DF, and Minute 69 Pinehurst House 
Nursing Home, Pinehurst, Sevenoaks KENT TN14 5AQ that he had previously 
considered the items on the Town Council but remained opened minded.  
 
Cllr Hogarth declared for Minute 68 21/03048/HOUSE - 1 Bottle Cottages, 
Bradbourne Vale Road, Sevenoaks KENT TN13 3DF, and Minute 69 Pinehurst House 
Nursing Home, Pinehurst, Sevenoaks KENT TN14 5AQ that he had previously 
considered the items on the Town Council but remained opened minded.  
 
Cllr Edwards – Winser declared for Minute 73 - 21/03404/FUL - Appleby, 3 
Greenhill Road, Otford KENT TN14 5RR that he was the local Member but remained 
open minded.  
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

110 
 

67.    Declarations of Lobbying  
 

All Councillors declared that they had been lobbied in respect of Minute 69 
20/03293/FUL - Pinehurst House Nursing Home, Pinehurst, Sevenoaks KENT TN14 
5AQ  
 
All Councillors declared except for Cllrs Ball, Barnett, P. Darrington, Edwards-
Winser, Hundson, Pett and Williamson that they had been lobbied in respect of 
Minute 70-  21/02825/FUL - Tonys Corner Shop, 18 Cedar Drive, Edenbridge KENT 
TN8 5JL  
 
All Councillors declared except for Cllrs Ball, Barnett, Cheeseman, P. Darrington, 
Edwards-Winser,  Hudson, Hunter, Hogarth, McGarvey, Pett and Raikes that they 
had been lobbied in respect of Minute 71 21/03526/FUL - Tonys Corner Shop, 18 
Cedar Drive, Edenbridge KENT TN8 5JL  
 
All Councillors declared, except for Cllrs Ball, Edwards-Winser, Hudson, and 
McGarvey that they had been lobbied in respect on Minute72  21/03404/FUL - 
Appleby, 3 Greenhill Road, Otford KENT TN14 5RR  
 
UNRESERVED PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

There were no public speakers against the following item and no Member reserved 
the item for debate, therefore, in accordance with Part 7.3(e) of the constitution 
the following matter was considered without debate: 

68.    21/03048/HOUSE - 1 Bottle Cottages, Bradbourne Vale Road, Sevenoaks KENT 
TN13 3DF  
 

The proposal sought planning permission for the erection of detached garage 
outbuilding. The application had been referred to the Committee by Cllr Canet, 
over concerns related to the impact of the proposal on the Locally Listed Building 
and Metropolitan Green Belt. 
 
It was moved by the Chairman and duly seconded that the recommendations within 
the report, be agreed.  
 
The motion was put to the vote and it was 
 

Resolved:  That planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions 
 
1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this permission.  
In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
1) The materials to be used in the construction of the development shall be 

those indicated on the approved plan Application form dated 15 
September 2021.  

Page 2

Agenda Item 1

https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s46548/4.1%2020-03293%20final%20dcc%2027.01.22%20formatted.pdf?J=3
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s46548/4.1%2020-03293%20final%20dcc%2027.01.22%20formatted.pdf?J=3
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s46549/4.2%2021-02825%20final%20dcc%2027.01.22%20formatted.pdf?J=3
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s46549/4.2%2021-02825%20final%20dcc%2027.01.22%20formatted.pdf?J=3
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s46554/4.3%2021-03526%20final%20dcc%2027.01.22%20formatted.pdf?J=3
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s46554/4.3%2021-03526%20final%20dcc%2027.01.22%20formatted.pdf?J=3
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s46555/4.4%2021-03404%20final%20dcc%2027.01.22%20formatted.pdf?J=3
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s46555/4.4%2021-03404%20final%20dcc%2027.01.22%20formatted.pdf?J=3


Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

111 
 

To maintain the integrity and character of the setting of the Locally Listed 
Building as supported by EN4 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and 
Development Management Plan.  

 
3) The outbuilding hereby approved shall remain of a function which is 

ancillary to the main house on site and shall not be subdivided nor used 
as a separate dwelling.  
 

To preserve the visual amenity of the area and the openness of the Green 
Belt, in accordance with Policies EN1 and GB3 of the Sevenoaks ADMP.  

 
4) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans and details: 001, 003 Rev A, 004 Rev A  
 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  
 

RESERVED PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
The Committee considered the following planning applications: 
 
69.    20/03293/FUL -  Pinehurst House Nursing Home, Pinehurst, Sevenoaks KENT 

TN14 5AQ  
 

The proposal sought planning permission for the demolition of the existing building 
and erection of two three storey blocks, two four storey blocks and, one five 
storey block totalling 56 residential units with associated landscaping, cycle 
storage, car parking, waste and recycling stores, and external lighting.  
 
The application had been referred to the Committee by Cllr Canet in order to 
assess whether the proposal is over development of the site, out of scale with the 
residential character of the area and assess its impact upon highways/ on-site 
parking provision.  
 
Members’ attention was brought to the main agenda papers and late observation 
sheet which did not amend the recommendation.   
 
The Committee was addressed by the following speakers: 
 
Against the Application: Mr Stephen Brown 

For the Application: Mr John Ferguson 

Town Representative: Cllr Camp 

Local Members: Cllr Dr. Canet and Cllr Collins  

Members asked questions of clarification from the speakers and officers.  
It was moved by the Chairman that the recommendations within the report, be 
agreed.  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

112 
 

Members discussed the application expressing concern that the proposal could be 
overdevelopment of the site due to the number of flats and was not in keeping 
with the local area due to its scale. Concerns were also raised in regards to 
insufficient parking for the number of proposed flats.  
 
The motion to grant planning permission was put to the vote and it was lost.  
It was moved and duly seconded that planning permission be refused as the 
development would be over intensification of the site, did not comply with EN1 of 
the Core Strategy and was out of keeping with the residential character 
assessment. There was also a lack of appropriate parking facilities.  
 

Resolved:  That planning permission be refused for the following reasons 
 

1)The proposed bulk, scale, massing and height of the development is 

visually obtrusive and would be out of character with the built form within 

the local area.  As such the proposal is contrary to policies EN1 of the 

Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan and SP1 of the 

Sevenoaks Core Strategy, the Sevenoaks Residential Character Area 

Assessment and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

2)Without appropriate on-site parking to serve the development hereby 

permitted would lead off off-site roadside parking, that would lead to 

conditions that are prejudicial to highway safety contrary to policies EN1 

and T2 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan.  

 
The meeting was adjourned for a brief comfort break for the convenience of 
Members and Officers at 8.35pm. The meeting reconvened at 8.45pm  
 
70.    21/02825/FUL - Tonys Corner Shop, 18 Cedar Drive, Edenbridge KENT TN8 5JL  

 
The proposal sought planning permission for creation of seven off-street car parks; 
the erection of 13 dwellings; an extended replacement to the existing shop and 
associated landscaping improvements and creation of a temporary shop. The 
application had been referred to the Committee as the applicant is Sevenoaks 
District Council.  
 
Members’ attention was brought to the main agenda papers and late observation 
sheet.  
 
The Committee was addressed by the following speakers: 
Against the Application: Mr Lee Minter 

For the Application: - 

Parish Representative: - 

Local Members: - 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

113 
 

Members asked questions of clarification from the officer. It was confirmed that 
none of the trees had TPOs and that the proposal provided landscaping 
improvements. The proposal would also provide 311 spaces to be available daily. It 
was also confirmed by the officer that there was a condition for details on the 
phasing of the development to be submitted.   

 
It was moved by the Chairman and duly seconded that the recommendations within 
the report and late observations, be agreed.  
 
Members discussed the application.  
 
The motion was put to the vote and it was 
 

Resolved:  That planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions 
 
1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this permission. 

 

In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

2) The materials to be used in the construction of the residential 

development shall be those indicated on the approved plans: A983-01B-

PL-120 rev D, A983-01B-PL-121 rev C, A983-01C-PL-120 rev C, A983-01C-

PL-121-C, A983-01F-PL-120 rev B, A983-01F-PL-121 rev B. 

 

To ensure that the appearance of the development is in harmony with 

the existing character of the area as supported by Policy EN1 of the 

Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 

3) The hard and soft landscaping, hereby approved, shall be carried out in 

accordance with the landscaping plans and planting schedules, 

reference numbers: Site 10 Planting Schedule, 5469 LLB ZZ E6 DR L 001 

rev P03,  5469 LLB ZZ E6 DR L 0002 P03, 5469 LLB ZZ E10 DR L 0001 P02, 

5469 LLB ZZ E11 DR L 0001 P02, 5469 LLB ZZ E11 DR L 0002 P02, 5469 

LLB ZZ E3 DR L 0002 P03, 5469 LLB ZZ E3 DR L0001 P03, 5469 LLB ZZ E7 

DR L 0001 P02, 5469 LLB ZZ E7 DR L 0002 P02, 5469 LLB ZZ ZZ DR L 0001 

P02, 5469 LLB ZZ ZZ DR L 0002 P02 and Masterplan 5469 LLB ZZ ZZ DR L 

0001 P06. 

 

To ensure that the appearance of the development is in harmony with 

the existing character of the area as supported by Policy EN1 of the 

Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 

4) All planting, seeding or turfing approved shall be carried out in the first 

planting and seeding season following the occupation of the 

development or the completion of the development, whichever is the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

114 
 

sooner. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years after 

planting, are removed, die or become seriously damaged or diseased in 

the opinion of the local planning authority , shall be replaced in the 

next available planting season with others of similar size, species and 

number, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 

authority. 

 

To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of the 

landscape scheme in the interests of the visual amenities of the locality 

in accordance with Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and 

Development Management Plan. 

 

5) Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings on sites 6 and 10, eleven 

electric car charging points with suitable voltage and wiring for the safe 

charging of electric vehicles within the residential curtilage, shall be 

installed and thereafter maintained, as per approved plan numbers 

A983-01B-PL-102 rev C and A983-01F-PL-102 rev C. 

 

In order to mitigate and adapt to climate change in accordance with 

policies EN1 and T3 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development 

Management Plan. 

 

6) Prior to the use of the sites commencing, the visibility splays shall be 

provided and maintained with no obstructions over 1.05 metres above 

carriageway level within the splays, as per approved plans 4966 03, 4966 

04, 4966 05, 4966 06, 4966 08, 4966 09. 

 

In the interests of Highways safety. 

 

7) Prior to the use of the sites commencing, pedestrian visibility splays of 2 

metres x 2 metres shall be provided and maintained behind the footway 

on both sides of the access with no obstructions over 0.6m above 

footway level. 

 

In the interests of Highways safety. 

 

8) Prior to the commencement of works, a Construction Management Plan 

shall be submitted and approved in writing to the Local Planning 

Authority to include the following:(a) Routing of construction and 

delivery vehicles to / from site(b) Parking and turning areas for 

construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel(c) Timing of 

deliveries(d) Provision of wheel washing facilities(e) Temporary traffic 

management / signage 

 

To ensure that the development does not prejudice the free flow of 

traffic and conditions of safety on the highway or cause inconvenience 

Page 6

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

115 
 

to other highway users in accordance with Policies EN1 and T1 of the 

Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 

9) From the commencement of works (including site clearance), all 

mitigation measures for reptiles will be carried out in accordance with 

the details contained within section 5 of the Reptile Survey and 

Mitigation Strategy (KB Ecology May 2021). 

 

In the interests of protected species and ecology on the site, in 

accordance with policy SP11 of the Core Strategy. 

 

10) Development shall not begin in any phase until a detailed sustainable 

surface water drainage scheme and means of foul sewerage for the site 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority, in consultation with Southern Water and the Lead Local Flood 

Authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the 

surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations 

and intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 

100 year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of without increase 

to flood risk on or off-site. The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate 

(with reference to published guidance):1. That silt and pollutants 

resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to ensure there 

is no pollution risk to receiving waters.2. Appropriate operational, 

maintenance and access requirements for each drainage feature or SuDS 

component are adequately considered, including any proposed 

arrangements for future adoption by any public body or statutory 

undertaker. The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance 

with the approved details. 

 

To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for 

the disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does 

not exacerbate the risk of on/off site flooding. 

 

11) No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) 

of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a 

Verification Report, pertaining to the surface water drainage system and 

prepared by a suitably competent person, has been submitted to and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Report shall demonstrate 

that the drainage system constructed is consistent with that which was 

approved. The Report shall contain information and evidence (including 

photographs) of details and locations of inlets, outlets and control 

structures; landscape plans; full as built drawings; information pertinent 

to the installation of those items identified on the critical drainage 

assets drawing; and, the submission of an operation and maintenance 

manual for the sustainable drainage scheme as constructed. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

116 
 

To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the 

land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to 

controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 

the development as constructed is compliant with and subsequently 

maintained pursuant to the requirements of paragraph 165 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

12) No development shall take place until an Arboricultural Method 

Statement (detailing all aspects of construction and staging of works) 

and a Tree Protection Plan in accordance with British Standard 

5837:2012 (or later revision) has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. 

 

To protect the trees on site which are to be retained in the interests of 

the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy EN1 of the 

Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 

13) No development shall take place until details of the implementation and 

phasing for the development have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. The approved scheme shall be 

phased as agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

To ensure the visual amenity of the area is maintained, in accordance 

with Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development 

Management Plan and the NPPF. 

 

14) Works of demolition and construction shall only be carried out between 

the hours of 08.00 to 18.00 hours Monday to Friday, and 08.00 to 13.00 

hours on Saturdays, with no work being permitted on Sundays or Bank 

Holidays. 

 

In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy EN2 of 

the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 

15) The applicant shall obtain a Secured by Design accreditation for the 

development hereby permitted, a copy of which must be submitted to, 

and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority within 3 

months of the completion of the development. 

 

In the interest of Security, Crime Prevention and Community Safety and 

in accordance with Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and 

Development Management Plan. 

 

16) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans and details: A983-01-101 H, 5469 LLB 

ZZ ZZ DT L 0001 P01, 4966 01, 5469 LLB ZZ ZZ DR L 0001 P06, A983-01C-

PL-110-C, A983-01F-PL-102 B, A983-01A-PL-102 D, A983-01B-PL-102a A, 

A983-01C-PL-102 D, A983-01F-PL-130-D, A983-01F-PL-121-B, A983-01F-

Page 8

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

117 
 

PL-120 B, A983-01F-PL-111-B, A983-01F-PL-110-B, A983-01C-PL-121-C, 

A983-01C-PL-120-C, A983-01B-PL-131-B, A983-01B-PL-130-C, A983-01B-

PL-121-C, A983-01B-PL-120-D, A983-01B-PL-112-A, A983-01B-PL-110- E. 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

Informatives 

 

1) The proposed development has been assessed and it is the Council's view 

that the CIL is payable.  Full details will be set out in the CIL Liability 

Notice which will be issued with this decision or as soon as possible after 

the decision. 

 

2) Should the development be approved by the Planning Authority, it is the 

responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development is 

commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 

required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are 

clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken 

by the Highway Authority. 

 
3) Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and 

gardens that do not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of 

the road. This is called 'highway land'. Some of this land is owned by The 

Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third party owners. 

Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have 'highway rights' over 

the topsoil. Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can 

be found at https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-

after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries 

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved 

plans agree in every aspect with those approved under such legislation 

and common law. It is therefore important for the applicant to contact 

KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works 

prior to commencement on site. 

 

 4) The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981, as amended (section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or 

destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use or being built. 

Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence against 

prosecution under this Act. Breeding bird habitat is present on the 

application site and assumed to contain nesting birds between 1st March 

and 31st August, unless a recent survey has been undertaken by a 

competent ecologist and has shown that nesting birds are not present. 

 5) The granting of planning permission confers no other permission or 

consent on the applicant. It is therefore important to advise the 

applicant that no works can be undertaken on a Public Right of Way 

without the express consent of the Highways Authority. In cases of doubt 

the applicant should be advised to contact this office before 

commencing any works that may affect the Public Right of Way. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

118 
 

Should any temporary closures be required to ensure public safety then 

this office will deal on the basis that: 

1. The applicant pays for the administration costs 

2. The duration of the closure is kept to a minimum 

3. Alternative routes will be provided for the duration of the closure.3 

A minimum of six weeks’ notice is required to process any applications 

for temporary closures. PLEASE NOTE no Temporary Traffic Regulation 

Orders will be granted by KCC for works that will permanently obstruct 

the route unless a diversion order has been made and confirmed. 

This means that the Public Rights of Way must not be stopped up, 

diverted, obstructed (this includes any building materials, vehicles or 

waste generated during the works) or the surface disturbed. There must 

be no encroachment on the current width, at any time now or in future 

and no furniture or fixtures may be erected on or across Public Rights of 

Way without consent. 

 

No hedging or shrubs should be planted within one metre of the edge of 

the Public Right of Way. 

 

71.    21/03526/FUL - Tonys Corner Shop, 18 Cedar Drive, Edenbridge KENT TN8 5JL  
 

The proposal sought planning permission for the provision of a temporary shop unit 
to be used in lieu of the existing for a period of 3 years.  
 
The application had been referred to the Committee as the applicant is Sevenoaks 
District Council.  
 
Members’ attention was brought to the main agenda papers. There were no public 
speakers registered for this item.  

Members asked questions of clarification from the speakers and officer.  
It was moved by the Chairman and duly seconded that the recommendations within 
the report, be agreed.  
 
Members discussed the application it was moved and duly seconded that condition 
1 be amended to read: ‘after no more than 3 years.’  
 
The motion was put to the vote and it was agreed.  
 
Debate continued on the substantive motion. 
  
The substantive motion was put to the vote and it was 
 

Resolved:  That planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions 
 
 1) The temporary container hereby approved shall be removed and the 

land returned to its former condition after three years. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

119 
 

In order to preserve the character and appearance of the existing street 

scene in accordance with policy SP1 of the Sevenoaks District Core 

Strategy and Policy EN1 of the ADMP and accordance with the guidance 

outlined within the NPPF. 

 

 2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans and details: Proposed elevation plan - 

PL220, Proposed site Plan - A983-01C-PL-211, Proposed block plan - 

A983-01C-PL- 211 and the Planning statement received 21/10/21. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

4) No use of the premises, works or associated activities including 

deliveries, loading, unloading, servicing, vehicle parking or the 

manoeuvring of vehicles shall be carried out outside of the hours 

between 07:00 am and 19:00 pm Monday to Saturday, and between 

07:00 am and 14:00 pm Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

 

To safeguard the amenity of the area and safeguard the amenities of 

nearby residential developments as supported by Policies EN1 and EN2 

of the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 

It was moved by the Chairman that, in accordance with rule 16.1 Part 2 of the 
Constitution, Members extend the meeting beyond 10.30 p.m. to enable the 
Committee to complete all the business on the agenda. The motion was put to the 
vote and it was agreed. 
 
72.    21/03404/FUL - Appleby, 3 Greenhill Road, Otford KENT TN14 5RR  

 
The proposal sought planning permission for demolition of existing dwelling, 
erection of 2 detached 5 bed dwellings with associated outbuildings, access and 
landscaping (phased development). 
 
The application had been referred to the Committee by Cllr Roy due to concerns 
about the impact on the street scene, the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and 
residential amenities.  
 
Members’ attention was brought to the main agenda papers. The Committee was 
addressed by the following speakers: 
 
Against the Application: Mr Justin Boulton 

For the Application: Emma Gregson 

Parish Representative: Cllr Roy 

Local Members: Cllr Roy 

Members asked questions of clarification from the speakers and officer.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 27 January 2022 

120 
 

It was moved by the Chairman and duly seconded that the recommendations within 
the report, be agreed.  
 
Members discussed the application, and some concerns were raised that the 
development would be inappropriate due to its scale and bulk in comparison to 
others in the area. Concerns were also raised that it did not comply with the 
Otford Village design statement.  
 
The motion to grant planning permission was put to the vote and it was lost.  
It was moved and duly seconded that planning permission be refused due to the 
development’s bulk, scale and height, contrary to the ADMP and Otford Village 
Design Statement.  
 
The motion was put to the vote and it was 
 

Resolved:  That planning permission be refused on the following grounds 
The proposed bulk, scale and height of the development would be  visually 
obtrusive and would fail to respect the spacious character of the built form 
within the local area.  As such the proposal is contrary to policies EN1 of the 
Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan and SP1 of the 
Sevenoaks Core Strategy and the Otford Village Design Statement.  

 
 
 

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 10.45 PM 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 
 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  1 

 

4.1  21/01333/FUL Revised expiry date 9 August 2021 

Proposal: Conversion of existing Working Mens club to four flats 

Location: Edenbridge Working Mens Club, 67 High Street, 
Edenbridge KENT TN8 5AL  

Ward(s): Edenbridge North & East 

Item for decision 

Councillor McGregor has referred the application to Development Control 
Committee on grounds of no parking provisions and inadequate bicycle storage. 

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions: 

 1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans and details: 211C, 212B, 215B, 220B 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 3) No development including any works of demolition or preparation works 
prior to building operations shall take place on site until a Construction Transport 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period and shall include: (a) parking for vehicles of site personnel, 
operatives and visitors (b) loading and unloading of plant and materials (c) storage 
of plant and materials used in constructing the development (d) hours of 
operation. 

In the interest of highway safety. 

 4) Prior to the commencement of development, details of all windows and 
doors (including head, cill and window reveal details) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

To ensure that the appearance of the development enhances the character and 
appearance of the conservation area as supported by Policy EN4 of the Sevenoaks 
Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 5) Prior to occupation further details of the secure bicycle storage shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  2 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

To provide secure storage for alternative means of transport in accordance with 
policy T1 of the ADMP. 

 6) Further details of the proposed balcony and its privacy screen shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
occupation of the proposed flats. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

To ensure no loss of amenity for neighbouring properties in accordance with policy 
EN2 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 7) No development shall be carried out on the land until full details of soft 
landscaping and proposed boundary details have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  Those details shall include:  

 planting plans (identifying existing planting, plants to be retained and new 
planting);  

 details of boundary heights and materials.  

All soft landscaping shall be implemented not later than the first planting season 
following the first occupation of any part of the development.  

To preserve the visual appearance of the area as supported by EN1 and EN4 of the 
Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 8) Within six months of works commencing, details of how the development 
will enhance biodiversity will be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority. This will include a native species-only landscape scheme. 
The approved details will be implemented and thereafter retained. 

To ensure the development results in a net gain in biodiversity in accordance with 
paragraph 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework and policy SP11 of the 
Core Strategy. 

Informatives 

 1) Given that the proposed works will be undertaken on or close to a boundary 
with the neighbouring properties, the applicant is reminded of the requirements of 
The Party Wall Act 1996 which amongst other things requires adjoining owners to 
be notified of the proposals, and their agreement sought to the proposed works. 

 2) It is important to note that planning permission does not convey any 
approval to carry out works on or affecting the public highway. Any changes to or 
affecting the public highway in Kent require the formal agreement of the Highway 
Authority, Kent County Council (KCC), and it should not be assumed that this will 
be a given because planning permission has been granted. For this reason, anyone 
considering works which may affect the public highway, including any highway-
owned street furniture, is advised to engage with KCC Highways and Transportation 
at an early stage in the design process. 

 3) The applicant is reminded to ensure no damage to the trees during removal 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  3 

of the store to the northern side of the application site. 

National Planning Policy Framework 

In dealing with this application we have implemented the requirements in the 
National Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant/agent in a positive, 
proactive and creative way by offering a pre-application advice service; as 
appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible and if applicable suggesting 
solutions to secure a successful outcome. We have considered the application in 
light of our statutory policies in our development plan as set out in the officer’s 
report. 

 

Description of site 

1 The application site is 67 High Street, Edenbridge known as the Working 
Men’s Club. The site is set back from the east side of the High Street with 
restricted views of the building between numbers 59 and 67 A & B (1 to 9 
Meade Court). The building is two storeys in height and is constructed from 
brick, with a tiled roof, UPVC windows and white bargeboards to the eaves. 
Other buildings in the area feature a similar material palette to the 
application site, though render, hanging tiles and stonework are also 
present, resulting in a varied and characterful high street.  

2 The principle elevation is gable fronted with a two storey side extension, 
part of which features a flat roof. To the rear sits a single storey extension 
creating an L-shape footprint for the building. The current use of the 
building is a club, with no off road parking available. It is understood that 
the current use is becoming financially unviable.  

3 The application site is within the Edenbridge Conservation Area and sits 
within an important grouping of buildings as outlined in the Conservation 
Area Appraisal. This grouping includes the Grade I (highest level) listed 
church of St Peter and St Paul to the east of the application site, the Grade 
II listed library and 1 to 9 Church Street to the south and 1 to 9 Meade Court 
adjacent to the site. The Conservation Area Appraisal does not refer 
specifically to this site.  

Description of proposal 

4 The proposal is to convert the Working Men’s Club into four flats, the 
proposal has been amended from five flats and a ground floor (commercial) 
office following a review of the internal floorspace of the individual flats. 
The proposal will not involve any extension of the building’s footprint as the 
proposal completely utilises the existing floorspace.  

5 In terms of external alterations, to the front these involve replacement 
windows, a new door serving flat 3 in place of the existing electrical 
cupboard and toilets, a larger sash window in place of the former entrance 
to the building, removal of a store behind the front wall and creation of a 
communal entrance. To the north side a balcony and French doors for flat 1 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  4 

are proposed along with new windows and doors on the exposed side wall 
courtesy of the removal of the single storey store building that wraps around 
this elevation from the front.  

Relevant planning history 

6 93/01313/HIST - Demolition of single storey addition. Granted.  

7 93/00856/HIST - Single Storey additions to form covered storage area. 
Granted.  

8 84/00071/HIST - Erection of single storey extension to form licensed bar and 
construction of 2m. high (approx.) boundary wall. Granted.  

Policies 

9 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

10 Para 11 of the NPPF confirms that there is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, and that development proposals that accord with 
an up-to-date development plan should be approved without delay.   

11 Para 11 of the NPPF also states that where there are no relevant 
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, permission should be granted 
unless: 

 application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed (footnote 7); or 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 

12 Footnote 7 relates to a variety of designations, including SSSIs, Green Belt, 
AONBs, designated heritage assets and locations at risk of flooding. 

13 Core Strategy (CS) 

 LO1    Distribution of Development  

 LO6 Development in Edenbridge 

 SP1 Design of New Development and Conservation 

 SP11 Biodiversity 
 

14 Allocations and Development Management Plan (ADMP) 

 SC1 Sustainable Development 

 EN1 Design Principles 

 EN2 Amenity Protection 

 EN3 Demolition in Conservation Areas 

 EN4 Heritage Assets 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  5 

 EMP5 Non-allocated Employment sites 

 GI1 Biodiversity 

 T2 Parking 
 

15 Other:  

 Edenbridge Conservation Area Appraisal SPD 

 Sevenoaks District Conservation Areas: Design Guidance SPD.  
 

Constraints 

16 The following constraints apply: 

 Edenbridge Urban Confines  

 Edenbridge Conservation Area 

 Setting of listed buildings  

 Edenbridge Town Centre location 
 

Consultations 

17 Edenbridge Town Council: 

18 The latest consultation response is set out in full with a summary of any 
previous responses received noting that some plans have been superseded: 

19 The Town Council maintain their previous observations and reasons for 
objection, including: 

 No evidence of a party wall consultation and would ask the officer would 
this application require one.  

 Cycle storage is inadequate. 

 There is no provision for parking. 

 Members again refer to Kent County Council comment on 12 August 2021.  
 

20 Summary of previous comments 
 

 There is little or no parking provision for the five flats.  

 Considered that the application is an overdevelopment.  

 No evidence of a party wall consultation.  

 Flats do not meet minimum floor space standards  

 Lawful access through church gate to the rear?  

 Bicycle storage insufficient.  
 

21 KCC Highways: 

22 February 2022: 

23 No objection subject to conditions:  

Page 17

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  6 

24 Further to my previous response, this application has been revised to the 
conversion of the existing building to four flats only, and the ground floor 
office space has been removed from the proposal altogether. 

25 The proposals do not include any parking provision. Given that the Working 
Men's Club had no parking, and this is a town centre location with parking 
restrictions in the vicinity, this would not be a reason to object to this 
application. 

26 Secure, enclosed bicycle storage for the four flats will be accessed direct 
from the highway at the front of the building. One space per flat is required 
and whilst no details have been supplied on the type of storage system to be 
used, I am content to condition this.  

27 I refer to the above planning application and confirm that provided the 
following requirements are secured by condition or planning obligation, then 
I would raise no objection on behalf of the local highway authority:- 

 Submission of a Construction Management Plan before the 
commencement of any development on site.  

 Provision and permanent retention of secure, covered cycle parking 
facilities prior to the use of the site commencing in accordance with 
details to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

28 Request for informatives regarding works to the highway and required 
permission from KCC Highways.  

29 KCC Archaeology: 

No comments.  

30 SDC Arboriculture: 

No comments.  

31 Southern Water: 

Requires a formal application for connections to the public foul water 
system to be made by the applicant/developer. 

32 SDC Conservation and Urban Design:  

33 June 2021 response summary:  

34 Quality of design 

35 The NPPF states the creation of high quality buildings and places is 
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve, 
and we have some concerns in regards to the quality of homes that this 
development would provide. Well-designed homes and communal areas 
within buildings provide a good standard and quality of internal space. This 
includes room sizes, floor-to-ceiling heights, internal and external storage, 
sunlight, daylight and ventilation (NDG: para. 126). The proposed flats show 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  7 

double bedrooms but are all under the minimum gross internal floor area for 
a 1bed, 2person, 1storey dwelling at 50m2. 

36 Some cycle storage has been included for some of the flats, however across 
the scheme as a whole, the provision is inadequate (amount) or functional 
(covered and convenience to access) as per the KCC officer’s comments.  

37 No information has been provided on sunlight, daylight or ventilation. Three 
of the five flats are single aspect and the bedroom of flat five which is one 
of the flats that has dual aspect faces out to a 2.7m high brick wall which is 
set back 1.4m from the window (due to the lack of information showing the 
location and size of the window on the elevation we are unable to assess the 
impact on daylight or sunlight). Proposed amenity spaces are encouraged 
however no detail has been submitted on the proposed approach for 
effective landscaping (NPPF, para. 127b). We would request that further 
information on both hard, soft landscaping and boundary treatments is 
submitted as development should contribute to an improvement to create 
safe, inclusive and attractive environments (Core Strategy SP1). 

38 Conservation 

39 Glimpses of the building can be viewed as a back land development from 
the High Street, which is characteristic of the conservation area. Details on 
the frontage, such as the symmetrical position of the windows on the upper 
floors and the brick lintel details, are reflective of the building’s age and 
architectural style. The arch lintel would have historically served as the 
entrance to the building and intended to be seen in views from the High 
Street. The proposed fenestration to the front and rear, especially at the 
ground level under the arch lintel (which will presumably be obscured as 
this is a toilet) is not considered a sensitive adaptation to the historic part 
of the building, which can be viewed from the High Street. The use of a 
glazed balcony is not considered sympathetic to the historic context and 
would appear incongruous, particularly as it will be visible from the church 
yard. The building sits in a sensitive location in a conservation area and 
setting of numerous listed buildings and the cumulative impact of the 
proposed changes detracts from the historic character of the locality. There 
is an opportunity with redevelopment of this building to improve previous 
unsympathetic alterations and enhance its appearance in the conservation 
area. 

40 With the information submitted, we are unable to support the proposed 
development in line with Policy SP1: all new development should be 
designed to a high quality and should respond to the distinctive local 
character of the area in which it is situated. 

41 September 2021 response summary: 

42 The internal layout for the open plan offices has been altered, whereby the 
toilets now run along the party wall and are not located in front of the 
windows. It is noted that the entrance to the office has now changed and is 
located under the arch lintel. The elevation gives little indication on how 
this has been detailed and we would require more information in order to 
make an assessment. Has the window been blocked and bars removed, if so 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  8 

how has this infill been addressed? We would request information on the 
proposed windows and doors, as they can be viewed from the high street 
and conservation area. 

43 The applicant has clarified that the floor to ceiling heights on the upper 
floor are over 1.5m so they would contribute to the GIA. The remaining 
comments are still applicable. 

44 December 2021 and February 2022 response summary: 

45 Amended plans now acceptable, no conservation objections remaining.   

 

Representations 

46 3 letters of objection have been received relating to the following issues: 

 Existing air conditioning units should be removed, they overhang View 
School property.  

 New window to the rear and the existing will overlook The View School 
grounds. Obscured glazing is needed.  

 Construction vehicles would have to reverse onto high street.  

 The site does not benefit from a car park. 

 Site plan states garden to the front – this is a carpark for Dominos.  

 Balcony will result in overlooking.  

 Internal space for the flats is too low.  

 Works to remove store along boundary wall – we have not been consulted 
on this.  

 Removal of store will damage trees.  
 

47 1 letter of support has also been received:  

 Ample local support for development, shame such support has not been 
submitted.  

 

Planning Officer’s appraisal 

48 The main planning consideration are: 

 Principle of development  

 Design and impact on heritage assets  

 Residential amenity 

 Parking and highway safety  

 Other issues 
 

Housing Delivery Test and Policy Context  

49 Para 2 of the NPPF states that, as set out in planning law, applications for 
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  9 

those policies that are out of date, they should be given less weight, to the 
extent that they are out of date (in accordance with para 210 of the NPPF.  

50 Where there are key local policies that are not fully up to date, these are 
referred to in the report.  

51 In the absence of a five year supply of land for housing in Sevenoaks 
District, the ‘tilted balance’ required by the NPPF can be engaged to give 
weight in favour of granting planning permission.  

52 For this proposal, some of the policies are partially out of date and these 
are referred to later in this report.  

53 In this case, the site is within a Conservation Area which is one of the 
constraints referred to above in the footnote to para 11 of the NPPF.  

54 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF (in part) states that planning policies and 
decisions should support development that makes efficient use of land, 
taking into account the desirability of maintaining an areas prevailing 
character and setting (including residential gardens) or of promoting 
regeneration and change. 

55 Further detail on the planning balance will be set out in more detail later in 
this report.  

56 Loss of existing use and conversion of building  

57 The site falls within the built confines of Edenbridge and therefore Policy 
LO1 and LO6 of the Core Strategy apply. Policy LO1 outlines how 
development should be focused within the built confines of existing 
settlements. With regard to Edenbridge it states “Edenbridge will be a 
location for development of a scale and nature consistent with the needs of 
the town and the surrounding rural area it serves in accordance with Policy 
LO6”. Given that the site is within an area comprising a mix of commercial 
and residential uses, and that it is located close to the services offered 
within Edenbridge town, it is considered to be a sustainable site for 
residential development. 

58 Policies LO1 and LO6 are partially out of date. They are generally in 
accordance with the NPPF as they support sustainable development but they 
do not allow for the more up to date requirements of the NPPF to make 
efficient use of land and to this extent these policies are inconsistent with 
the requirements of the more up to date NPPF.  

59 An assessment as to whether the proposed conversion would protect the 
setting of the urban area and the distinctive character of the local 
environment is carried out later in the report, however, provided that the 
scheme complies with all other relevant development plan policies, the 
proposal complies with Policy LO1 and LO6.  

60 As outlined above the residential use in the location can be acceptable in 
principle, however, the loss of the existing commercial use must also be 
assessed as part of this application. The site is currently used as a Working 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  10 

Men’s Club which would fall under the Sui Generis Use Class, the proposed 
flats would be Use Class C3 under the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).  

61 The site is not an Allocated Employment Site and it is within the Urban 
Confines of Edenbridge, as such policy EMP5 of the Allocations and 
Development Management Plan applies. This states: “When considering 
proposals for the creation or loss of business uses on unallocated sites, the 
Council will assess the impact of the proposals on the environment, local 
economy and the local community. For new proposals the Council will also 
consider the impact on the transport network and ensure there is no harm 
to surrounding uses, including nature conservation areas”.  

62 The loss of the Working Men’s club is not considered to detrimentally impact 
the economy of the area, there are numerous other establishments in the 
vicinity providing similar services, resulting in continued use of this part of 
the High Street. As part of this application the applicant/developer has 
confirmed the use of the site is becoming financially unviable and will close 
irrespective of the current planning application. It is considered that the 
loss of employment and commercial use are acceptable in accordance with 
policy EMP5 

63 In light of the above guidance, the proposed change of use would be 
acceptable in principle.  

Design and impact on heritage assets  

64 Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy and EN1 of the Allocations and Development 
Management Plan state that all new development should be designed to a 
high quality and should respond to the distinctive local character of the area 
in which it is situated. Policy EN1 of the ADMP also states that the form of 
proposed development should be compatible in terms of scale, height, 
density and site coverage with other buildings in the locality. The design 
should be in harmony with adjoining buildings and incorporate materials and 
landscaping of a high standard. 

65 Paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework outlines that local 
authorities should conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their 
significance. Any harm, which is less than substantial, must be weighed 
against the public benefit of the proposal (para 200-202). Furthermore, 
section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area.   

66 Policy EN4 of the ADMP relates to proposals that affect a heritage asset or 
its setting, it supports proposals where the character, appearance and 
setting of the asset is conserved or enhanced. 

67 The Edenbridge Conservation Area Appraisal describes the High Street as the 
main dominant feature in the Conservation Area. The appraisal splits the 
High Street in two with Hever Road separating the north and south sections, 
the application site falls within the northern section. The site is not 
specially referred to in the appraisal though other similar small gaps where 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  11 

buildings can be seen through are noted and here the importance of 
preserving the views and the character of the buildings which can be seen is 
highlighted.   

68 The proposal would result in the creation of four flats within the existing 
building of the 67 High Street (Working Men’s Club). No extensions are 
proposed only a number of fenestration changes and openings. The proposed 
flats following amendments to the proposals are of a modest scale, ranging 
from 52sqm to over 90sqm. Three of the flats are proposed to be two-
bedrooms units and one is proposed to be a one-bedroom unit.  

69 Removal of the store 

70 The most significant external alteration is the removal of the store which 
wraps around the front and north side elevation. This is proposed to be 
removed and a number of external changes in the exposed walls will be 
made. Policy EN3 of the Allocations and Development Management Plan 
outlines how the architectural or historic interest of said building must be 
assessed. It continues to say “Buildings that make a positive contribution to 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area should be 
conserved. Where a building makes no significant contribution to the area, 
consent for demolition will be given subject to submission and approval of 
a detailed plan for redevelopment or after use of the site”.  

71 The store does not hold any architectural merit and could be considered a 
detracting factor of the application site, its removal therefore will enhance 
the character of the conservation area in accordance with policy EN4. This 
part of the site will be better developed by allowing for a communal 
access/entrance to the building, a discrete bin store area (behind the 
boundary wall to the front) and new openings in the single storey projection 
to the rear to allow for natural light into that part of flat 4.  

72 Furthermore, the NPPF outlines how local authorities should seek 
opportunities to enhance the significance and character of a designated 
heritage asset (paragraph 206). The removal of the store will better reveal 
the original or older elements of the building and its significance and will 
enhance its character. The development therefore accords with this section 
of the NPPF.  

73 Principle elevation alterations   

74 A number of changes to the front (principle) elevation are proposed as part 
of this conversion. Firstly, the external electrical cupboard and the existing 
female toilets will be removed to create the entrance to flat 3. This 
entrance will sit below an existing arched brick lintel and so it is likely that 
an entrance was formerly located here. The existing entrance, left of the 
proposed, along with the small window serving a w/c in the male toilets will 
be changed to a large sash window. As part of this the metal bars covering 
the glazing below the brick lintels will be removed. A new communal door 
and two new windows will be installed on the ground floor where part of the 
front elevation will be exposed post removal of the store. These will, 
however, not be easily visible from the street as they will reside behind the 
boundary wall. Other changes include the replacement of the casement 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  12 

windows to the first floor with sash windows. These would be welcomed 
replacements as the sash design is more traditional and more sympathetic to 
the character of the area than the current windows, which do not appear to 
be the original windows of the building but rather poor replacements that 
detract from the character. Further details of the proposed windows can be 
required through condition to ensure the materials, design, colour and 
glazing thickness are all sympathetic to the character of the conservation 
area.  

75 The above changes to the principle elevation will enhance the design and 
character of the building and by extension the character of the conservation 
area. The changes will not impact the relationship with other buildings 
forming the important grouping. Consequently, it is considered these 
changes will accord with policy EN4 of the Allocations and Development 
Management Plan and paragraph 197(c) of the NPPF.  

76 North elevation alterations 

77 To the north side of the building it is proposed to construct a balcony for 
flat 1, along with new doors and windows – particularly along the exposed 
ground floor post the removal of the store. Concerns have been raised 
regarding the impact of the balcony on the character and setting of the 
conservation area. Whilst the balcony could be considered a non-traditional 
feature in the conservation area, its siting ensures the impact will be 
limited. The Conservation Area Appraisal identifies important views up and 
down the high street and along Church Lane, the balcony will not be visible 
from any of these views. Moreover, due to the setback of the building and it 
being surrounded by other buildings, the application site is inconspicuous 
from the public realm and local vicinity – including the north elevation.  

78 Overall, whilst the balcony does not enhance the character of the 
conservation area it is not considered to detract from it either. Additionally, 
when assessed as part of the wider development the design and character of 
the building will be enhanced overall. Therefore, the proposal will comply 
with policy EN4 of the ADMP.  

79 Setting of listed buildings  

80 As highlighted earlier in the report the application site is located near a 
number of listed buildings, these include the buildings fronting the high 
street, the View School (former Library) to the south and the Grade I listed 
church to the rear. The majority of the changes are the front elevation and 
away from the Grade I listed church, though they have the potential to 
impact the listed buildings fronting the street. However, for the reasons 
outlined above the alterations are considered to be an enhancement and 
therefore will conserve the character and setting of the listed buildings. To 
the rear of the application site the alterations are minimal, they comprise 
of replacement windows and a new window, there are no extensions 
proposed. There may be fleeting views of these changes from the 
churchyard, however, they are not considered to impact the setting.  

81 Summary 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  13 

82 The proposal is not considered to result in harm to the wider Conservation 
Area and will preserve and enhance its character and appearance and 
therefore complies with Policies EN1, EN4 of the ADMP and Policy SP1 of the 
Core Strategy along with the guidance of the Edenbridge Conservation Area 
Appraisal. It is also considered to preserve the setting and significance of 
the nearby listed buildings in accordance with policy EN4 of the ADMP and 
section 16 of the NPPF.  

Residential amenity  

83 Policy EN2 of the ADMP requires proposals to provide adequate residential 
amenities for existing and future occupiers of the development, while 
ensuring it would not result in excessive overlooking, visual intrusion, 
vibration, odour, air pollution, vehicle movements, or a loss of privacy and 
light enjoyed by the occupiers of nearby properties.  

84 Neighbouring properties/occupiers that could be impacted by development 
of the Working Men’s Club site would be the View School (former library) to 
the south of the site and number 63 to the north.  

85 In terms of the View School, it has an outdoor area to the rear of the 
application site which is delineated by a fence, to the western side of the 
fence is the car parking area which is accessed from Church road. Concerns 
have been raised regarding overlooking of the outdoor area from the first 
floor windows of the application site. This area is presumably used by 
children of the school. Comments received request that the existing 
windows and the proposed window (serving the kitchen of flat 2) should be 
obscure glazed. The windows are 10m away from the fenced off outdoor 
area of the school (not including the car parking area) at the closest point. 
Additionally, there are already windows present on the rear, serving an 
office and bedroom (for the existing flat). It is considered that the existing 
use would generate a similar level, and potentially more overlooking than 
the proposed uses. Noting this and the reasonable separation distance there 
would be perceived overlooking but the relationship would not cause 
significant harm as a result of actual overlooking or loss of privacy.  

86 Regarding number 63, concerns have been raised regarding the balcony 
overlooking the garden area. Whilst views into the garden will be possible 
they will be fleeting and restricted due to the existing screening, courtesy 
of the mature trees. There will be no views into the property or the private 
amenity garden area. Moreover, it is noted that the balcony will feature a 
1.7m high obscure glazing screen, further reducing the ability to overlook. 
Details of which will be requested through condition.  

87 In terms of the amenity for the future occupiers of the flats. The initial 
proposals did not include sufficient internal space to accord with the 
Nationally Described Space Standards, all bar one of the five flats were 
below the 50sqm required for one bedroom flats. The proposal has been 
altered to four flats, two of which are two bedroom flats with two double 
bed sized rooms, the standards required here are 70sqm. Flats 2 and 4 meet 
these requirements. Flat 1 remains a single bedroom flat and still accords 
with the 50sqm. Lastly, flat 3 is a two bedroom three person flat and is 
required to provide 61sqm of internal space which is met.  

Page 25

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  14 

88 All proposed dwellings and flats should have access to sufficient daylight 
and ventilation. The living rooms for three of the four flats have dual 
aspect. Flat 3 does not have dual aspect, however, the proposed large sash 
window to the front would provide an acceptable amount of daylight.  

89 As for external amenity space, the application site does not benefit from 
land which could be used for amenity space other than the small garden 
area to the rear. Due to the arrangement of the flats this would serve flat 4 
only. The other flats would not have external amenity space, irrespective of 
the plans labelling the area to the front as garden – it is noted that this is an 
area of hardstanding used for parking informally for Dominos Pizza and it is 
understood not to be within the ownership of the application site. This is 
therefore not counted as external amenity space. Nevertheless, it is noted 
that the flats are in a sustainable location in proximity to services, 
provisions and parks. Furthermore, there are no local policies that require a 
minimum outdoor amenity area, nor is this detailed in the nationally 
described space standards. Overall, it is therefore considered that the level 
of amenity for the proposed occupiers will be acceptable.   

90 In light of the above it is considered that the proposed development will 
provide sufficient amenity for the proposed occupiers and will preserve 
amenity for neighbouring occupiers in accordance with policy EN2 of the 
ADMP.   

Parking and highway safety 

91 Policy T1 of the Allocations and Development Management Plan states that 
new development will be required to mitigate any adverse impacts that 
could result from the proposal. 

92 Policy EN1 states that all new development should provide satisfactory 
means of access for vehicles and pedestrians and provide adequate parking. 

93 Policy T2 of the ADMP states that vehicle parking provision should be made 
in accordance with KCC vehicle parking standards. However, the policy does 
allow the Council to depart from established maximum standards in taking 
account of specific local circumstances. 

94 Paragraph 111 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that: 

95 ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’. 

96 The application site does not benefit from off road parking spaces of its 
own. The maximum parking standards for new flats, in accordance with 
Appendix 2 of the Allocations and Development Management Plan is 1 space 
per unit when in a town centre. This is the maximum requirement, with 
para 108 of the NPPF also requiring that decisions take account of the need 
to optimize the density of development in town centres and other locations 
that well served by public transport. It is considered, in line with the 
comments received from KCC Highways (the Local Highway Authority) that 
given the Working Men's Club has no current parking provision in this town 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  15 

centre location and as there are parking restrictions in the vicinity, this 
would not be a reason to withhold permission. The absence of parking 
spaces would not lead to an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network that would be severe.   

97 To the benefit of this application, some cycle storage is proposed. The 
proposed bicycle storage area will accommodate approximately five bikes 
which is considered sufficient for four flats. KCC Highways have requested 
further details and these will be conditioned.  

98 In summary, the application site is in a sustainable location and the proposal 
encourages sustainable and low carbon transport, this is considered in line 
with national and local policy. The design and layout of the flats would 
make them less attractive to families and the sustainable location and lack 
of onsite parking provision is likely to be most appealing to residents who 
are not so reliant on their own car.  

99 In terms of highway safety, several comments refer to the access being 
dangerous, particularly for larger vehicles which will not be able to turn and 
will therefore be forced to reverse onto the high street. Moreover, the 
access to the high street is narrow and has limited visibility. As no parking is 
proposed there will be no additional risk to highway safety. As for 
construction vehicles, a Construction Management Plan can be required 
through condition.  

100 Policy T3 of the Allocations and Development Management Plan outlines how 
electric vehicle charging should be provided for new residential units. As the 
site does not have onsite parking provision, it would not be appropriate to 
require provision of a communal charging point. However, it is likely that 
there will be electric charging facilities in the area, notably in public car 
parks. Nevertheless, accordance with this policy is considered less key given 
the encouragement for alternative means of travel these flats would 
encourage.  

Other issues 

101 The Town Council have requested a Party Wall agreement is undertaken, as 
the application site adjoins the apartment block of 1 to 9 Meade Court to 
the south and the boundary wall with number 63. This is not a planning 
matter. A suitably worded informative reminding the applicant to undertake 
such agreements/discussions can be included in the decision notice.  

102 For the gated access from the churchyard, the lawful use of the access has 
been brought into question. This is also not a planning matter as there is 
existing access to the site here.  

103 The National Planning Policy Framework stresses the importance of 
achieving a net gain in biodiversity in all new developments. The application 
site has limited biodiversity at present and likely has a low potential. 
Nevertheless, a suitably worded condition will be included for the developer 
to provide details of how a net gain will be achieved, this can be through 
the inclusion of bat and bird boxes.  

Page 27

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  16 

104 Concerns have been raised regarding the trees to the northern boundary of 
the site between it and number 63 High Street. These concerns relate to the 
works to remove the store damaging the trees, and an informative can be 
included.  

Planning balance  

105 Para 2 of the NPPF states that, as set out in planning law, application for 
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For 
those policies that are out of date, they should be given less weight, to the 
extent that they are out of date (in accordance with para 210 of the NPPF.  

106 In the absence of a five year supply of land for housing in Sevenoaks 
District, the ‘tilted balance’ required by the NPPF can be engaged to give 
weight in favour of granting planning permission.  

107 In this case, the site is within a Conservation Area which is one of the 
constraints referred to above in the footnote to para 11 of the NPPF.  

108 As set out above, the proposal would comply with the relevant policies 
relating to the protection of heritage assets.  

109 Benefits of the proposal include: 

 Re-use of a building that may otherwise become vacant. 

 Improvements to the building that would conserve and enhance the 
conservation area. 

 Making efficient use of land with the delivery of new residential units.  
 

110 There would be limited harm due to the lack of onsite parking due to the 
location in the town centre, with other forms of transport nearby and the 
provision of cycle storage on site. There would be limited harm if any, from 
the change of use and overlooking into land used by View School. There are 
no clear reasons for refusing planning permission.  

111 There are no policies relating to the special areas of protection, including 
Conservation Areas, that provide a clear reason for refusal (para 11(d) (i) of 
the NPPF). 

112 There would be no adverse impacts of granting planning permission that 
would significantly or demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal 
when assessed against the policies of the NPPF as a whole (para 11(d) (ii) of 
the NPPF). 

113 There is a presumption in favour of development and this is given significant 
weight and the need for housing adds weight to the recommendation for 
approval.  

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

114 The proposal is CIL liable.  

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  17 

Conclusion 

115 The proposed development is considered acceptable in principle. It is also 
considered to conserve and enhance the character and significance of the 
conservation area and listed buildings. There will be no loss of highway 
safety or residential amenity. The proposal therefore accords with local and 
national policy.    

116 It is therefore recommended that this application is GRANTED.  

Background papers 

Site and block plan 

 

Contact Officer(s):                        Ashley Bidwell: 01732 227000  

 

Richard Morris 
Chief Planning Officer  

 

Link to application details: 

Link to associated documents: 

  

Page 29

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  18 

 

 

  

Page 30

Agenda Item 4.1



 

(Item No. 4.1)  19 

 

BLOCK PLAN 

 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4.1



This page is intentionally left blank



(Item 5.1)  1 

5.1 – TPO 6 of 2021  

PROPOSAL: TPO 6 of 2021 was served in response to concern raised 
over possible clearance works to this overgrown and 
unmanaged site.  

LOCATION: Situated to the east of Church Road and the north of 
Newports Crockenhill. 

WARD(S): Crockenhill and Well Hill. 

ITEM FOR DECISION 

TPO 6 of 2021 has been served to avoid the overall clearance of what is a young 
emerging woodland.   

RECOMMENDATION: That TPO 6 of 2021 is confirmed without amendment. 

 

Description of Site 

1 The woodland area as described above consists of mixed deciduous 
woodland with underlying scrub. The site has not been used for any 
commercial use for many years and as such, nature has taken over with 
numerous self-sown trees at the young to mature stages of their growth. It 
has been reported that an orchard existed here but this is difficult to check, 
as the vegetation is impenetrable. The remains of commercial greenhouse 
can be seen but long since unused. 

Constraints 

2 The following constraints apply 

 Metropolitan Green Belt. 

 TPO 06 of 2021. 

Amenity Value and Visibility of the woodland. 

3 This TPO has been classified as a Woodland order. The amenity it offers is 
measured in its ecological as well as visual benefits. The site is not readily 
accessible to the public, however it is directly visible to in excess of 60 
residencies that are located on its boundaries. Their visual amenity is not 
generally to do with a singular tree but the group/woodland as a whole. As a 
result of serving the order, we have received over 40 responses who have all 
overwhelmingly supported the Order. We have received videos and 
photographs of animal visitors from the woodland into the adjacent gardens 
showing Foxes, Badgers, Deer as well as many differing species of bird.  

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5.1



(Item 5.1)  2 

 

Representations 

4 One objection to the order has been received from the owners Estate Agent.  

5 Mr Barnshaw of Bishop Estates has stated that the owners have had issues 
with land grabbing from some of the neighbours as well as the dumping of 
garden waste which they wish to access and resolve. 

Appraisal. 

Consideration of Objections. 

6 TPO 6 of 2021 was served to ensure that the woodland as a whole was not 
simply cleared of all vegetation destroying the amenities that currently 
exist after being abandoned for many years by the owners. 

7 Officers have met on site with Mr Barnshaw and advised on what can be 
done and what requires consent. Further guidance has been provided on the 
potential to manage the site and mitigate against the issues raised 
Continuing support is offered by Officers should it be required. 

Expediency of preserving the mixed deciduous woodland. 

8 The woodland has amenity benefits as a whole with roosting and nesting 
sites for birds within it, as well as the benefits to neighbours. The serving of 
this order would retain this woodland with control on the extent of any 
future pruning/felling or management to it. 

Conclusion. 

9 It is therefore recommended that TPO 6 of 2021 be confirmed without 
amendment. 

 

TPO plan and Schedule 1 attached as (Appendix 1). 

Contact Officer   Les Jones 01732 227000 

Richard Morris 
Chief Planning Officer 

  

Page 34

Agenda Item 5.1



(Item 5.1)  3 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

  

Page 35

Agenda Item 5.1



(Item 5.1)  4 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

Page 36

Agenda Item 5.1



Planning Application Information on Public Access – for applications coming to 

DC Committee on Thursday 10th March 2022 

 

4.1 21/01333/FUL - Edenbridge Working Mens Club, 67 High Street, Edenbridge KENT 

TN8 5AL 

 

Link to Planning application: 

 

Link to associated documents: 

 

Page 37

Supplementary Information

https://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QSA6XYBKK2H00
https://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QSA6XYBKK2H00


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	4.1 21/01333/FUL - Edenbridge Working Mens Club, 67 High Street, Edenbridge KENT TN8 5AL
	5.1 Tree Preservation Order 6 of 2021 - Situated to the east of Church Road and the north of Newports Crockenhill.
	 Public Access Links

